Drew University College of Liberal Arts

Investigating the relationship between coral species diversity, most abundant coral growth form, and live coral cover with habitat structural complexity in the

Caribbean

A Thesis in Environmental Studies and Sustainability (Science Track)

By:

Kyra Jean Cipolla

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for

The Degree of Bachelor in Arts

With Specialized Honors in Environmental Studies and Sustainability

May 2019

ABSTRACT

Recent anthropogenic change is shifting Caribbean coral communities toward reefs dominated by stress resistant coral species, which are often less architecturally complex leading to less productive reefs that are unable support a high diversity of organisms. Coral bleaching, ocean acidification, hurricanes, diseases, and other stressors are leading to decreases in coral species diversity and coral cover along with changes in most abundant coral growth form of reefs throughout the Caribbean region. As these three reef attributes change, architectural or topographic complexity of Caribbean reefs may change as well. The architectural complexity of reefs can greatly influence their ability to support biodiversity and provide ecosystem services. By analyzing the threedimensional structure of coral reefs, topographic complexity measurements, linear rugosity indices (R) and fractal dimensions (D) at five resolutions were derived. An examination of field data on the effect of coral species diversity and most abundant coral growth form in South Caicos, Turks and Caicos Islands revealed that high topographic complexity may be correlated with high coral species diversity. From a literature review of the relationship between live coral cover and topographic complexity in the Caribbean, my study found, in general, mixed results. While coral cover is an important reef attribute in some cases, the corals' identity plays a bigger role than the amount of cover considering topographic complexity in the Caribbean. In regards to coral species diversity, I found that linear rugosity increased as coral species diversity increased and fractal dimension increased as coral species diversity increased for all resolutions except for the smallest, D_{0.01}. By using the highest relative coral species abundance, most abundant coral growth forms were determined (plate, plume, and plate/plume). My study showed a significant relationship between fractal dimensions at larger resolutions and dominant coral growth form in which higher fractal dimensions occurred on plate/plumedominated reefs than plume-dominated reefs. This may be due to increased diversity in growth form given that there are two different morphologies dominating the area. Coral species diversity seemed to have a stronger overall relationship with topographic complexity than with dominant coral growth form or overall coral cover, thus management and restoration strategies should be sure to ensure high diversity of structurally complex coral species in Caribbean reefs. Understanding the components underlying topographic complexity can help increase effectiveness of strategies for marine ecosystem conservation now and in the coming decades.

Table of Contents

1.	Background	
	1.1 Coral-Symbiodinium Relationship, Coral Anatomy, & Threats	Го Reefs6
	1.2 Ocean Acidification	9
	1.3 Coral Bleaching	11
	1.4 Ocean Acidification & Coral Bleaching in the Caribbean	12
2.	Reef Attributes	
	2.1 Introduction to Reef Traits	14
	2.2 Coral Species Diversity	14
	2.3 Dominant Growth Form	15
	2.4 Live Coral Cover	17
3.	Another Reef Attribute: Topographic Complexity	
	3.1 Defining Topographic Complexity	19
	3.2 Flattening of Caribbean Coral Reefs	19
	3.3 Importance of Topographic Complexity	21
	3.4 Measuring Complexity	22
4.	Materials and Methods	
	4.1 Study Area	27
	4.2 Field surveys	
	4.3 Underwater Filming	
	4.4 Three-dimensional Modeling	31
	4.5 Three-dimensional Model Analysis Preparation	32

	4.6 Fractal Dimension
	4.7 Rugosity
	4.8 Diversity and Dominance
	4.9 Data Analysis
	4.10 Live Coral Cover
5.	Results
	5.1 Coral Species Diversity & Topographic Complexity
	5.2 Most Abundant Coral Growth Form & Topographic Complexity40
	5.3 Live Coral Cover & Topographic Complexity43
6.	Discussion
	6.1 Coral Species Diversity & Topographic Complexity48
	6.2 Most Abundant Growth Form & Topographic Complexity49
	6.3 Live Coral Cover & Topographic Complexity51
	6.4 Notable Observations
7.	Strategic Conservation & Restoration Methods
	7.1 Applications from this Study55
	7.2 Reef Resilience & Outplantings56
	7.3 Marine Protected Areas (MPAs)57
	7.4 Artificial Reefs
8.	Conclusion60
9.	Literature Cited

CHAPTER 1

BACKGROUND

1.1 Coral-Symbiodinium Relationship, Coral Anatomy, & Threats To Reefs

Coral reefs are the largest living structures on the planet and are located across the globe from deep, cold waters to shallow, tropical waters (Goreau and Goreau 1973; Bak et al. 2005). Reefs brim with life and are often called the "rainforests of the ocean" as they support a wide array of organisms as well as provide numerous ecological services and goods for human communities (Moberg and Folke 1999). Yet coral reefs only cover a minuscule portion (less than 1%) of the ocean surface (Spalding and Brown 2015). Coral reefs encompass several different coral types. Soft and hard corals are comprised of small invertebrate animals, polyps. Hard coral polyps, which have reef-building capabilities, secrete a rigid skeleton of calcium carbonate, CaCO₃, in a crystal form called aragonite. Soft corals, such as gorgonian corals, do not produce a rigid calcium carbonate skeleton nor do they form reefs, though they may be present in a reef ecosystem. Polyps have a very basic structure consisting of an epidermis layer, a gastrovascular cavity, and tentacles that surround the mouth (Barnes 1987; Figure 1).



Figure 1. Diagram depicting typical coral polyp anatomy (Gini Kennedy/ NOAA 2011).

Tentacles help the coral capture plankton and are corals' only defense against predators. Nematocysts, within the tentacles, are triggered by tactile stimuli and puncture predators (Hayes and Goreau 1998). Since reef-building corals require an abundant supply of energy to thrive, the energy derived merely

from digesting plankton is insufficient for survival (Brown and Ogden 1993). Thus, most corals have developed a mutualistic relationship with endosymbiotic dinoflagellates of the genus *Symbiodinium* in their gastrodermal cells. *Symbiodinium* provides the coral with as much as 90% of its energy (Sumich 1996; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Oakley and Davy 2018).

Coral provides the dinoflagellates with a protected environment and compounds needed to perform photosynthesis. In exchange, the *Symbiodinium* produce glucose and glycerol that corals consume (Colombo-Pallotta et al. 2010). As long as *Symbiodinium* are making the corals' food, the coral has energy to make proteins and carbohydrates for the synthesis of calcium carbonate (Knowlton 2001). Because of the endosymbiosis between coral polyps and *Symbiodinium*, coral reefs are most abundant and diverse in relatively shallow tropical waters. The placement in shallow, tropical waters allows sunlight needed for photosynthesis to reach the *Symbiodinium* (Knowlton 2001). Besides *Symbiodinium*, the community of metazoans, protists and microbes associated with corals makes up the coral holobiont (Rohwer et al. 2002).

To make calcium carbonate for shells and other structures, marine animals such as corals, clams, oysters, and some plankton use carbonate ions (CO_3^{-2}). A polyp will create a cup-shaped skeleton, called a calyx, to sit in. This hard skeleton of calyx clusters is the strong foundational structure that protects the coral colony from the harsh force of waves and allows the corals to live together and form the reef structure (Barnes 1987).

Coral reefs are threatened by natural phenomena such as hurricanes and diseases but, unfortunately, some human activities negatively impact ecosystems as well. These activities include emitting carbon, waste dumping, and unintentional physical damage to coral. Coral reefs around the world have been, and are still being, threatened by an array of factors including ocean acidification, unsustainable overfishing, pollution, damage caused by vessels, coastal development, coral bleaching, and invasive species (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Not only are coral reefs being affected, but marine life dependent on reefs is being threatened. As mentioned before, reefs display astonishingly high biodiversity. They are often referred to as biodiversity hotspots being home to approximately 25% of the oceans' fish species (Spalding et al. 2001). The resulting impacts of the threats to coral may cause devastating changes to the growth, development, and larval settlement in several species (Kleypas and Langdon 2006; Randall and Szmant 2009; Cantin et al. 2010).

Coral reefs benefit humans by being a source of food for millions of people worldwide, supporting fishing and tourism industries, and providing chemicals used for medicinal purposes (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999). Tourism is a major foreign exchange earner in the Caribbean basin and in some countries ocean-related tourism makes up to half of the GDP (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Bryant et al. 1998). Thus, as coral reefs perish, humans will experience negative repercussions as well (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999; Moberg and Folke 1999).

1.2 Ocean Acidification

Ocean acidification is the decrease in the pH and aragonite (crystalized form of CaCO₃) saturation state of oceans caused by the absorption of atmospheric carbon dioxide (Zeebe et al. 2008). Over the past two centuries, oceans have absorbed approximately 40% of carbon dioxide emissions (Zeebe et al. 2008). Even though the ocean is immense, a high abundance of carbon dioxide can have a major impact. Carbon dioxide dissolves in seawater to form carbonic acid (H₂CO₃). When carbonic acid breaks down, hydrogen ions (H⁺) and bicarbonate ions (HCO₃⁻) are released from carbonate acid dissolved in the water. This causes the concentration of carbonate ions in seawater to decrease (Orr et al. 2005; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). As the availability of carbonate ions decreases, the production of coral skeletons slows. Coral skeletons form at a lower density than normal,

causing a weak reef structure (Gattuso et al. 1998; Orr et al. 2005; Zeebe et al. 2008). As aragonite concentrations in ocean water decreases the calcification rate of reef-building coral decreases (Orr et al. 2005). Calcification is essential to the survival and development of coral reefs. Without the calcium carbonate skeleton, coral become weakened by erosion (Kavousi et al. 2015). As corals weaken, some may die which results in many unique marine species, which depend on the coral reef, to relocate or die as well. Acidified seawater has negative impacts on the growth of young coral, including the early life stages and polyp larvae (Albright et al. 2010). Global ocean acidification is predicted to lower ocean pH by approximately 0.3 units from its current value of \sim 8.1 to a value of \sim 7.8 by the end of the century (Gattuso et al. 2014). A decrease of 0.2 to 0.3 units in seawater pH inhibits or slows calcification in organisms such as corals and calcareous plankton (Kleypas et al. 1999; Wolf-Gladrow et al. 1999; Riebesell et al. 2000).

Out of all the marine life, one of the most vulnerable ecosystems to ocean acidification is coral reefs because the main framework of reefs is reliant on calcifiers. Besides the loss of biodiversity, acidification will be detrimental for fisheries, negatively impacting food supplies for millions of people, as well as tourism and other sea-related economic activities (Moberg and Folke 1999; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Suwa et al. 2010). The change in ocean chemistry is critical given that most modern genotypes and phenotypes of corals do not have the capacity to adapt fast enough to sudden environmental change in the Caribbean (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Ultimately, ocean acidification is expected to enhance calcium carbonate dissolution with negative

consequences, first for coral growth and accretion and then for the entire reef framework (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007).

1.3 Coral Bleaching

As stated previously, corals have a mutualistic relationship with intracellular dinoflagellates of the genus *Symbiodinium* (Sumich 1996; Oakley and Davy 2018). Coral bleaching occurs after *Symbiodinium* is expulsed out of coral tissue from stress (Brown 1997). The environmental stresses linked to coral bleaching include long exposure to sunlight and high sea surface temperatures (Brown 1997). The visible bleaching of coral is caused by the loss of *Symbiodinium*, which give coral its vibrant color (Witze 2015; Figure 2).



Figure 2: Extensive bleaching of *Acropora palmata* at Buck Island Reef National Monument, November 2005 (Photo: E. Muller; Rogers et al. 2008)

Once Symbiodinium leave the polyp's tissue, the coral lose their color and turn white, as seen in Figure 2, which can happen within months of a heat rise (Witze 2015). Exposure of Symbiodinium to visible radiation, elevated temperatures, and ultraviolet radiation causes protein damage in *Symbiodinium* photosystem II, which is the protein structure that absorbs radiant energy during photosynthesis (Warner et al. 1996; Warner et al. 1999; Lesser 2011). Additionally, during photosynthesis, the thermally stressed Symbiodinium may produce a large concentration of oxygen (Leser 2011). When oxygen levels drastically increase, reactive oxygen species, or ROS, form inside coral tissue. ROS are toxic to coral tissue and cause lipid, protein, and DNA damage, which is the reason coral expel the Symbiodinium (Lesser 2011). Once the Symbiodinium are no longer present, most of the corals do not obtain enough nutrients to survive. The ones that do survive and recover their *Symbiodinium* normally show reduced growth, calcification, and fecundity (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999). In addition, corals that survive bleaching are often more susceptible to other stresses such as coral disease (Bruno et al. 2007). Importantly, widespread mortality of hard corals that occur after severe bleaching events, moves the balance towards net reef erosion (Sheppard et al. 2002).

1.4 Coral Bleaching & Ocean Acidification In The Caribbean

As the temperature increases, more and more coral are subject to the effects of bleaching. Coral bleaching poses a great danger to coral survival especially in the Caribbean. There have been exponential increases in the extent and intensity of coral bleaching with increasing sea surface temperature anomalies in the Caribbean (McWilliams et al. 2005). Goreau et al. (1993) found that at seven Caribbean sites, bleaching occurred when temperature was a mere 1° C above the long-term average for the warmest month. According to McWilliams and colleagues, an increase of 0.18 ° C in regional sea surface temperature produces a 35% increase in the number of reports of bleached corals (McWilliams et al. 2005).

Ocean acidification has severely impacted Caribbean coral reefs in the past few decades. The fertilization, settlement, and growth of *Acropora palmata*, an important and structurally complex Caribbean coral, is negatively impacted by acidified water (Albright et al. 2010). Although there is spatial variability in the changes in sea-surface carbonate mineral saturation state throughout the Caribbean region due to ocean acidification (Gledhill et al. 2008), the impact is consistently negative (Kroeker et al. 2010). Interestingly, a recent study of two threatened Caribbean reef-building corals, *Orbicella faveolata* and *Acropora cervicornis*, found that the two species were effected by different stressors. *Acropora* was more sensitive to heat stress, while *Orbicella* was more sensitive to high CO₂ levels (acidification stress; Langdon et al. 2018). This, along with the other previously mentioned research, suggests that rising temperatures and ocean acidification pose great threats to specific important corals and the general reef frameworks throughout the Caribbean region.

CHAPTER 2

REEF ATTRIBUTES

2.1 Introduction To Reef Traits

A fundamental interest in ecology is to understand biodiversity and its influence on ecosystem structure and function. Biodiversity, the variety and relative proportion of living species that can be found in an ecosystem, affects marine ecosystem services and processes across temporal and spatial scales. Biodiversity is linked to ecosystem productivity, stability, and recovery potential (Loreau et al. 2001, Palmer et al. 2004, Hooper et al. 2005; Worm et al. 2006). Loss of biodiversity leads to resource collapse and decreased water quality (Bellwood and Hughes 2001; Hughes et al. 2002). Thus, understanding the causes and changes in biodiversity is important. A primary factor that establishes and controls biodiversity within the tropical reef ecosystem is species diversity of coral, the primary habitat-forming organism (Hughes et al. 2002; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Messmer et al. 2011; Richardson et al. 2017).

2.2 Coral Species Diversity

Generally, corals vary in physical structure which suggests greater coral diversity provides a variety of habitats and shelter sites for a wide range of species (Messmer et al. 2011; Komyakova et al. 2013). It is important to monitor changes in coral species diversity as it alters reef structure and the diversity of reef communities, especially fish communities (Hughes et al. 2002; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Messmer et al. 2011). In the Caribbean, the white-band disease outbreak in the late 1970s and hurricane damage to

shallow water branching species, such as *Acropora* spp., led to a huge decline in the populations of these dominant habitat-creating species (Aronson and Precht 2001; Aronson et al. 2002). Since some coral species were wiped out, this diminished reef diversity (Aronson and Precht 2001; Bellwood et al. 2004). Coral disease, ocean acidification, and climatically induced coral bleaching will likely cause further declines in coral species diversity the future (Harvell et al. 2002, Gardener et al 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Fabricius et al. 2011).

2.3 Most Abundant Growth Form

The dominant growth form, the most common morphological growth type, of coral is an equally crucial reef factor to study. This is especially true in the Caribbean since Caribbean corals have relatively low diversity and redundancy when compared to other regions of the world (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). Differences in the dominance of particular corals within reef ecosystems may lead to differences in associated biodiversity and ecosystem services (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). There are several organisms that are coral-associated (including commercially important species; e.g. snapper, lobster and grouper) and thus varying coral growth forms can lead to variations in fish community structure (Komyakova et al. 2013). Quantifying the relative contribution of different corals to the architectural complexity of the reef is particularly important in order to understand the trajectory of coral reefs under changing environmental conditions.

Similar to the change in coral species diversity, dominant coral growth form in reefs has been altered due to anthropogenic change. There are a wide variety of common

growth forms including encrusting, branching, massive, plume, plate, columnar and more. Stress-resistant species are now dominating reefs (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). In the Caribbean, there has been a loss of reef-building coral species such as *Acropora* spp. (branching) and *Montastraea* spp. (massive) which are less stress-tolerant, and an increase in the stress-tolerant corals, *Porites* spp. (digitate or massive) and *Agaricia* spp. (encrusting or plate), which are often less topographically complex (Aronson et al. 2002; Green et al. 2008; Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). See Figure 3 for representative pictures of these species.



Figure 3: Various coral species of the Caribbean. *Acropora palmata* (top left; from Baums et al. 2014; photography by Geoff C. Chilcoat), *Montastraea cavernosa* (top right; photography by Rosa Rodríguez), *Porites astreoides* (bottom left; photography by James St. John), and *Agaricia* sp. (bottom right; photography by Nicole Helgason).

2.4 Live Coral Cover

Multiple factors have caused a significant decline in live coral cover over the last 40 years (Bellwood et al. 2004). In addition to the ocean warming and acidification

discussed earlier, *Diadema antillarum* die off in the Caribbean in the 1980s due to disease greatly reduced urchin populations (Bak et al. 1984; Lessios, Robertson, Cubit 1984; Hughes 1994). With mass mortality of *Diadema*, fleshy macro-algal blooms occurred which caused a major decline in coral cover, especially of the massive coral *Montastrea*, an important reef framework building species (Bak et al. 1984; Hughes 1994). Higher coral cover increases habitat area for obligate coral-dwelling species, corallivorous fishes, and species reliant on coral habitat for recruitment (Komyakova et al. 2013). Low coral cover leads to demographic changes including reduced reproductive output of brood stocks, lower recruitment rates, and species-level changes in coral composition (Bellwood et al. 2004).

CHAPTER 3

ANOTHER REEF ATTRIBUTE: TOPOGRAPHIC COMPLEXITY

3.1 Defining Topographic Complexity

Topographic complexity refers to the physical three dimensional structure of an ecosystem, encompassing the assembly provided by corals and other hard surfaces (Zawada et al. 2010; Graham and Nash 2013; Graham et al. 2015). The defining feature of topographic complexity on a coral reef is foundation taxa (e.g. corals; Ellison et al. 2005; Bryson et al. 2017). Topographic complexity drives biodiversity in tropical coral reef ecosystems because within topographically complex reefs, increased niches and habitat availability encourages high diversity and abundance of organisms (Hixon and Menge 1991; Johnson et al. 2003; Knudby and LeDrew 2007; Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a; Graham and Nash 2013).

3.2 Flattening Of Caribbean Coral Reefs

By the early 1980s, it was apparent that Caribbean reefs were flattening (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009). The temporal pattern of declining architecture coincides with major recent Caribbean events that were mentioned previously: the loss of structurally complex *Acropora* corals, the mass mortality of the grazing urchin *Diadema antillarum* which led to macroalgal blooms and multiple warming-induced coral bleaching events. The consistently low estimates of current architectural complexity suggest regional-scale degradation and homogenization of reef structure (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009). Structurally complex reefs have been virtually lost from the Caribbean region. There has been a nonlinear loss of architectural complexity over the past four decades which suggests that different drivers have influenced components of the reef community (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009). The major Caribbean-wide event that likely had a role in the steep decline in reef architecture was the outbreak of white-band disease, which started in the 1980s but has continued into the present, that destroys the coral tissue due to a bacterial pathogen (Kline and Vollmer 2011). Approximately 90% of structurally dominant acroporid corals have collapsed due to this disease exposing their fragile branching skeletons to erosion and hurricanes (Aronson and Precht 2001; Aronson et al. 2002). In the late 1990s, Caribbean reefs had another period of structural decline after a widespread coral bleaching event caused by high sea surface temperatures (McWilliams et al. 2005). After the bleaching event, coral mortality rates increased and growth rates declined, both of which contribute to the loss of complexity (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009). The low levels of coral cover in the Caribbean in the late 1990s may also have increased rates of erosion of underlying geological structures that were no longer shielded by actively growing hard corals, which led to less open substrate for future corals (Gardner et al. 2003). Since that major bleaching event, the Caribbean has faced other mass bleaching events that have contributed to the loss of topographic complexity seen today (Gardner et al. 2003). The increasing prevalence of disturbance and degradation of tropical coral reefs, especially in the Caribbean, has brought the importance of structural complexity to the forefront.

3.3 Importance Of Reef Structural Complexity

Topographic complexity has been found to play a role in reef resilience and influence other important factors such as water flow and nutrient uptake (Zawada et al. 2010; Graham et al. 2015). In regards to ecosystem services, reef structural complexity is also strongly related to the availability of shelter and habitat, which influences fish and invertebrate richness, abundance, and biomass (Idjadi and Edmunds 2006; Wilson et al. 2007; Graham et al. 2009; Graham and Nash 2013). Structurally complex reefs recover more quickly and more fully than less complex reefs (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Graham and Nash 2013). Another service provided by reefs with high topographic complexity is coastal protection since the wave energy transmitted over reefs is significantly dissipated by bottom roughness (Sheppard et al. 2005; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). The flatter the reef is from erosion, the higher the wave energy reaching the shores (Sheppard et al. 2005). This can lead to greater destruction of vegetation and human settlements.

Moreover, reef complexity may play an important role in increasing fish herbivory since there is evidence of an inverse relationship between topographic complexity and total algal cover on reefs (Graham and Nash 2013). In regards to relevance to humans, there is a positive effect of high topographic complexity on tourism (Graham and Nash 2013). Reef complexity enhances the abundance of fishes on reefs, which is an important ecological interest for dive tourists. Therefore, the widespread loss of architectural complexity is likely to have serious consequences on reef habitat quality and biodiversity, ecosystem functioning, and human services (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009; Graham and Nash 2013).

Over the past few decades, studies have investigated the relationship between topographic complexity and certain reef characteristics (Graham and Nash 2013; Komyakova et al. 2013; Bryson et al. 2017). In regards to coral growth form abundance, reef topographic complexity is highest when corals are low in taxonomic evenness and dominated by morphologically complex reef-building coral (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). However, other reef characteristics including coral species diversity have not been studied thoroughly.

3.4 Measuring Complexity

Topographic complexity can be measured in a variety of ways including rugosity, vector dispersion, and fractal dimension (Young et al. 2017). The structural measures that my study focuses on are linear rugosity (R) and fractal dimension (D). Topographic complexity is commonly represented by a linear rugosity index which is the ratio of the distance of the line following the reef contour (R_D) to the flat, linear distance (R_N; Young et al. 2017; Figure 4). Rugosity is typically measured using the "chain-and-tape method" which is measured as the length the chain reaches as it falls over the reef contour/topography divided by the total length of the tape when held taut over that same area (Young et al. 2017). Less invasive methods are more common now such as the use of underwater 3D modelling software.



Figure 4. Methods for quantifying linear rugosity using virtual chains (red) in a grid on Rhino 3D model. Rugosity is the ratio of the distance of the line following the reef contour (R_D) to the flat, linear distance (R_N) (Figure from Young et al. 2017).

Fractal dimension is a ratio providing an index of complexity comparing how minutely a surface changes with the scale that it is measured (Zhou and Xie 2003; Young et al. 2017). Fractal dimension is an accurate means of assessing surface complexity that has been shown to be well suited to describing coral reefs (Mark 1984; Young et al. 2017). Fractals, described and illustrated by Mandelbrot (1982), are a class of mathematical functions which are continuous and undifferentiable. Fractal dimension is a morphometrical method to characterize and quantify coral complexity using a ratio comparing how detail in fractal patterns change with the scale at which it is measured (Martin-Garin et al. 2007; Young et al. 2017). Simply, fractal dimension provides a measurement of *roughness* of fractal curves (Martin-Garin et al. 2007). As a rough curve

continues on a plane, it may become so close that it fills the plane on which it lies. Thus, increase in roughness is considered to be also an increase in dimension and the dimension of a fractal curve characterizes how the measured length between given points increases as scale decreases (Martin-Garin et al. 2007; Figure 5). To define the dimension of a structure, it is necessary for it to include fractal squares of every possible distance between two points (Martin-Garin et al. 2007). For this study, D indicates how surface area changes with resolutions. It is the slope of a model's resolution versus surface area (Young et al. 2017).



Figure 5. Methods for quantifying fractal dimensions at different resolutions (60, 30, 15, 5, 1 cm) for the same reef transect. The grid above is composed of squares, each of width δ , that are laid on top of the reef transect (Figure from Young et al. 2017).

The use of fractal dimension as a measure of reef topographic complexity is newer and less common than rugosity, which is why it has received less attention in biology in the past (Martin-Garin et al. 2007). My study is comparable to previous studies using rugosity measurement, while creating a baseline for fractal dimension data for future studies to compare. Threats to Caribbean coral reefs, such as ocean acidification and coral bleaching, have and will continue to impact or change reef attributes such as coral diversity, most abundant growth form, and live coral cover which may all cascade into impacting reef topographic complexity. Given the recent flattening of Caribbean reefs and the importance of topographic complexity, it is crucial to investigate the relationship between reef attributes and topographic complexity. It is known that coral species diversity and topographic complexity are positively correlated with each other. Although it is poorly understood why this relationship exists, it has been speculated that coral diversity and reef topographic complexity may be closely linked because coral species differ greatly in their growth form and branching structure (Veron 2000; Komyakova et al. 2013). However, to date, not many studies have been conducted to determine how topographic complexity and the three reef attributes influence each other. The aim of my honors research was to determine whether coral species diversity, dominant coral growth form, and live coral cover affect topographic complexity.

The following hypotheses were tested: (1) linear rugosity increases as coral species diversity increases; (2) fractal dimension increases as coral species diversity increases; (3) out of three growth forms (plume, plate, and plate/plume mix), plume-dominated reefs would have the highest rugosity followed by plate/plume; and plate-dominated reef having the lowest values (on the basis that plume corals often have higher height- perpendicular to the sea floor- than plate types, thus having more plume than plate types, in theory, would lead to higher rugosity values); and (4) fractal dimensions at large resolutions will be highest for plume dominated reefs and lower for plate and

plate/plume dominated reefs since larger dimensions will likely be highest for plume dominated reefs due to largest resolution measure on plume's perpendicular direction from the sea floor. For small resolutions, the values will be highest for plate-dominated reefs than plume and plate/plume dominated reefs due to the plate corals acute angle from the sea floor, where smaller resolutions are the highest; for visual perspective, see Figure 6.



Figure 6. Examples of plume (left) and plate (right) coral shapes.

CHAPTER 4

MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Study Area

From 29 October 2018 to 23 November 2018, I collected data at a dive site named the "Arch" located off the southern coast of South Caicos, in Turks and Caicos Islands, British West Indies (21°28'59.8"N 71°31'03.7"W; Figure 7 and Figure 8). The Arch is on a shelf-edge situated on the edge of a wall that drops to a 2,000 meter deep ocean drop off. A permit was obtained [D2001 Scientific and Research License] in order to conduct research for this study.



Figure 7. The "Arch" formation at the dive site.



Figure 8. Map of Long Caye and South Caicos, Turks and Caicos Islands. The star represents the Arch, the study site.

4.2 Field Surveys

In total, I conducted 18 coral surveys at the Arch. At each survey area, 10 m-long belt transects were laid with 0.5 meters on either side. A T-bar was used to estimate the width of the transect. Hard and soft coral species were identified that were bigger than 10 cm in diameter or 10 cm in height for columnar-shaped species and counted in the 10 m² area. Transects were laid at varying depths. I had 7 transects at 10 m depths, 6 transects at 20 m, and 5 transects at a depth of 30 m. Transect placement was based on permanent benthic markers laid by the School for Field Studies. Transect layout is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Transect layout at depths 10m, 20m, and 30 m. Lateral distance between transects was 6 m and medial distance was 10 m. Pin signifies dive markers at different depths.

4.3 Underwater Filming

In a lawnmower pattern (Figure 10), a diver filmed over a 10 x 1 meter area with weighted-markers placed on all four corners (the same area used for the coral survey). The diver recorded a video of the transect area going back and forth from one end of the transect to the other (five times in total) as the camera was at a constant height of 1.0 m above the reef and remained pointed straight down at the reef. To ensure that the video encompassed the entire desired area of study, the diver started on the outside of the markers and then with each pass of the length of the transect moved widthwise towards the other side to cover the entire length and width of the transect with some overlap. The swimming pace while recording the video was slow and steady for optimal model quality. The orientation of the camera did not change because the diver held the camera stationary while rotating the body upon reaching the end of the transect before turning back around. This study's method required approximately six to eight minutes of in-water filming time per transect.



Figure 10. Lawnmower method for filming $10 \ge 1$ m underwater transect area. Dotted lines with arrows signify the filmer/diver's movement. Yellow dotted line represents the transect tape. The squares with black diamonds in the center represent the four markers.

4.4 3D Modeling

The methods for this study's 3D modeling and 3D model analyses follow portions of Young et al.'s (2017) procedure. In order to construct a model from the video, the video was converted to images (JPGs) using Free Video to JPG Converter (version 5.0.101),

extracting at 15 frames per second, except two transects (10M_A and 10M_B) which had pictures extracted at every 10 frames to maximize clarity of the model. The software PhotoScan Standard (Agisoft LLC) was used to render models. Images loaded into PhotoScan were rendered into a 3D model by (1) aligning photos, (2) optimizing alignment (3) building a dense point cloud, (4) building mesh, and (5) building texture. The settings were set with default settings, except meshes' maximum face counts were set to 3,000,000. A rendered model was then exported as a wavefront (.OBJ) file and imported into the modeling software, Rhinoceros 3D ("Rhino"; Robert McNeel & Associates).

4.5 3D Model Analysis Preparation

The first step while working within Rhino was scaling the model by using a drawn square on a weighted-marker that measured 4 cm from the center to the corners of the square using the Rhino "Scale" command. Using the Rhino "Point" command, four points were added to the center of the square for each of the four markers in each corner of the transect area. Subsequently, the model was oriented such that a corner of the model rested squarely on the origin between X and Y axes (using Front view) with the entire model located in the positive Z-axis. The model was also set on "Meter" for dimension units. These settings were necessarily applied in order to run the topographic complexity measurements.

4.6 Fractal Dimension

In order to find the fractal dimension (D) values, an edited version of a custom Rhino Python script "FD.py" (<u>https://github.com/gracecalvertyoung/Rhino-Python-3D-Coral-Reefs/tree/master/Fractal Dimension</u>) made by Young et al. (2017) was run using the "RunPythonScript" command. The edited versions of the Python script allowed for nine 1.2 m x 1.2 m fractal dimension quadrats to be placed along the transect area (9.6 m x 1.2 m) right next to each other, from one end of the reef mesh, indicated by two markers, to the other end. Each quadrat had D values for five resolutions (δ) : 0.01, 0.05, 0.15, 0.3, and 0.6 m. This study's D values describe the relationship between the reef models' resolution (δ) and surface area S (δ). The formula below is how the 3D-model derived fractal dimension values were calculated:

$$2 - slope \frac{\log S(\delta)}{\log(\delta)} = D$$

4.7 Rugosity

То find the linear rugosity values, a custom plane-grid created from "rugosity helper.3dm" (100 squares of 0.5 m x 0.5 m) was uploaded and pasted onto the model once the model was scaled and set on "Meter" for dimension units. The meshes (reef and cube) were converged using the "MeshIntersect" command once the reef was completely overlapped by the cube mesh. Once the lines of the grid and the reef were intersected, the lines were ungrouped and rotated in the same direction, so that they all "rugosity.py" faced direction. Python Script found one А at https://github.com/gracecalvertyoung/Rhino-Python-3D-Coral-

<u>Reefs/blob/master/Rugosity/rugosity.py</u> (also made by Young et al. 2017) was run using "RunPythonScript" command by selecting all of the lines individually. Once the Python script computes the rugosity value of each of the lines in the Command History, those values can be extracted into excel to obtain averages and standard deviation. The formula below is how rugosity values were calculated. The farther the value is to zero, the more rugose and thus topographically complex that area is, as seen in Figure 4.

 $\frac{Distance of virtual chain (contour) on the reef(R_D)}{Total length of the chain (flat line) (R_N)} = Rugosity$

4.8 Diversity And Abundance

Shannon diversity index (H'), which takes into account species richness and evenness, was calculated for each transect using the formula below.

$$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{S} p_i \ln p_i$$

To determine abundant coral growth form for each transect, percentages of each coral species were calculated. The abundant coral growth form was determined as the coral with the highest relative abundance on the transect.

4.9 Data Analysis

Linear regressions were run to determine the correlation between the topographic complexity measures, fractal dimension (D values) and linear rugosity (R), and the Shannon's Diversity Index H'. Considering the data for fractal dimension and linear rugosity were normally distributed within each group of dominant coral growth form, analyses of variance (ANOVA) and the Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test were run on JMP statistical software to test the effect of dominant coral growth form on fractal dimension and rugosity.

4.10 Live Coral Cover

For this analysis I qualitatively assessed the literature regarding live coral cover and reef topographic complexity in Caribbean coral reef ecosystems. An analysis of the available peer-reviewed data was conducted using ISI Web of Science database (1972–2019) and GoogleScholar using keywords: coral cover AND structural complexity OR rugosity OR fractal dimension OR topographical complexity. The relationship between topographic complexity and coral cover was extracted from each study or if both coral reef 'traits' were the independent variables within the study, the outcome/impact on other coral reef attributes studied was considered.

CHAPTER 5

RESULTS

In the 18 transects that were studied, there were a total of 1216 corals identified from 28 different species (Table 1). Some species, such as Siderastrea siderea and Porites astreoides, were present throughout the majority of the transects and some appeared in every transect, such as *Pseudopterogorgia* spp. and *Agaricia* spp. There was a range of growth forms including branching, plate, and massive for stony corals, and branching, fan, and plume for soft corals. The diversity within massive species (Diploria stokesii, D. clivosa, D. labyrinthiformis, Isophyllia rigida, Leptoseris cucullata, Montastraea cavernosa, Orbicella annularis, P. astreoides) was higher than any other growth form, but benthic communities at this site were dominated by plate coral (Agaricia spp.) and soft corals (*Pseudopterogorgia* spp.; Table 1). Out of the 28 species present, 21 had relatively low species abundance (less than ten per each transect throughout all 18 transects). However, some species had generally low species abundance overall but had a higher number of individuals at one or two transects (Orbicella faveolata, O. franksi, and Pterogorgia spp.). On four transects, Pseudopterogorgia spp. and Agaricia spp abundances were within 3% of each other, being the two most abundant growth forms on these transects, plate and plume. When determining coral growth form abundance, those sites were deemed plate/plume dominated reefs. Nine transects were dominated by plume forms, four transects were dominated by plate/plume forms, and five transects were dominated by plate forms.
Species	Growth form	10A	10B	10C	10D	10E	10F	10G	20A	20B	20C	20D	20E	20F	30A	30B	30C	30D	30F
Acropora cervicornis	Branching	-	-		-	-	-		-		1	-	-	-					
Agaricia spp.	Plate	18	20	5	12	10	12	9	13	8	12	8	16	15	12	16	8	21	15
Dichocoenia stokesii	Massive										2		1						
Diploria clivosa	Massive														4				
D. labyrinthiformis	Massive				1			1				2	1	2		1	1	1	1
Diploria strigosa	Massive	1								1									
Eusmilia fastigiata	Tubular			1	1		1				2					1	1		
Favia fragum	Hemispherical	3					1				2				1	1	2	3	
Gorgonia spp.	Fan	11	10	2	2	1	7	2				1	2					1	
Isophyllastrea rigida	Massive			1			2		1										
Leptoseris cucullata	Plate														1				
<i>Madracis</i> spp.	Branching		3		1						6		2	1			1		
Meandrina spp.	Massive		2		1					1	3	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Millepora spp.	Branching	5	5	2	4	5	2								4	2			
Montastraea cavernosa	Massive		1				2			1					3	2		1	3
Mycetophyllia spp.	Plate														1		1		
Orbicella annularis	Massive							5			1						3	7	
Orbicella faveolata	Massive		3	1	2	1	1		2			1		6	1	6	6	4	15
Orbicella franksi	Massive			1	1	2	2	1							5	16	2	3	6
<i>Plexaura</i> spp.	Branching (soft)		3								3						2	2	
Porites astreoides	Massive	10	5	2	4	2	6	5				1	6	5	5	5			5
Porites porites	Branching			1	1	1		1			3		2					2	
Pseudopterogorgia spp.	Plume	19	13	24	27	41	12	57	6	4	9	41	45	74	11	26	8	2	24
Pterogorgia	Branching (soft)							2	1				6	21					4
Siderastrea radians	Encrusting	11	2		2	2	5				3				7	4	2		
Siderastrea siderea	Massive	3	2	2	1	2	4	3	3	2	5	4	2	4	8	4			1
Solenastrea bournoni	Massive									1					2				
Stephanocoenia																			
intersepta	Plate			2			1	1			4			2	1	3	1	5	8
		Total: 1216																	

 Table 1. Coral species recorded with corresponding growth form and number of individuals per transect. Bolded values indicate greatest abundance at that transect.

 10, 20, and 30 indicates the depths of the transects. The letters correspond to the transect labels at those depths (see Fig 7 for visual reference).

5.1 Coral Species Diversity & Topographic Complexity

A significant relationship was found between coral species diversity and fractal dimension (D_{1.2-0.6}, D_{1.2-0.3}, D_{1.2-0.15}, D_{1.2-0.05}; subscripts refer to the resolution). As diversity increased, fractal dimensions increased (Figure 11). The rate at which fractal dimension increased differed between resolutions. For instance, D_{1.2-0.6} increased at a higher rate than D_{1.2-0.05}. However, for the fractal dimensions at the lowest resolution, D_{1.2-0.01}, there was no significant relationship between coral species diversity and the D values according the regression analysis (linear regression, n = 18, R² = 0.04, p > 0.05). Another significant relationship was found between coral species diversity and rugosity (linear regression, n = 18, R² = 0.50, p = 0.001). The statistical analysis was run on inverse rugosity as linear/reef contour which was significant. The relationship that the rugosity increased as coral species diversity increased is shown as reef contour/linear (Figure 12). In other words, diversity increased as a function of rugosity.



Figure 11. The relationship between Shannon Diversity Index values and fractal dimension values for each resolution (D_{1.2}-0.6, D_{1.2}-0.3, D_{1.2}-0.15, D_{1.2}-0.05, D_{1.2}-0.01). Linear trendline and R² value were calculated for each D_{resolution}. D_{1.2}-0.6 (n = 18, R² = 0.56, y = 0.04x + 1.99, p = 0.03). D_{1.2}-0.3 (n = 18, R² = 0.28, y = 0.06x + 2.00, p = < 0.001). D_{1.2}-0.15 (n = 18, R² = 0.65, y = 0.08x + 1.99, p = 0.0004). D_{1.2}-0.05 (n = 18, R² = 0.27, y = 0.04x + 2.05, p = 0.02). D_{1.2}-0.01 (n=18, R² = 0.04, y = 0.007x + 2.05, p = 0.401).



Figure 12. The relationship between Shannon Diversity Index values and rugosity values (reef contour/linear) (n = 18, $R^2 = 0.3967$, y = 0.3227x + 0.8498).

5.2 Most Abundant Coral Growth Form & Topographic Complexity

From an ANOVA, statistically significant differences between the mean D values for each coral growth form were found for D_{1.2-0.3} and D_{1.2-0.6}. At both resolutions, values for plate/plume dominated reefs appear as the highest fractal dimension (Figure 13). There were significant differences in fractal dimension at resolutions D_{1.2-0.3} and D_{1.2-0.6} among the three dominant growth forms (ANOVA, n = 18, D_{1.2-0.6}: F(2) = 8.97, p = 0.003; D_{1.2-0.3}: F(2) = 4.10, p = 0.04), with LSD post hoc tests revealing that plate/plume had higher fractal dimension values than plume-dominated reefs. There were no statistically significant differences between plate/plume and plate, or between plate and plume for both resolutions. The means of remaining fractal dimensions and rugosity were not statistically different between plate/plume, plate and plume (ANOVA, n = 18, $D_{1.2-0.15}$; F(2) = 3.54, p > 0.05; $D_{1.2-0.05}$; F(2) = 2.15, p > 0.05; $D_{1.2-0.01}$: F(2) = 2.26, p > 0.05; R: F(2) = 2.24, p > 0.05). To reiterate, for both $D_{1.2-0.3}$ and $D_{1.2-0.6}$, the only difference that was statistically significant was between plate/plume-dominated reefs and plume-dominated reefs.



Figure 13. (A) Most abundant coral type and average fractal dimension ($D_{1.2-0.6}$). (B) Most abundant coral type and average fractal dimension ($D_{1.2-0.3.}$). Bars sharing a letter are not statistically significantly different according to an ANOVA. Error bars signify standard deviation.



Figure 14. Mean Shannon's Diversity Index Values in transects where *Montastrea cavernosa* was present or absent. Error bars signify standard deviation.

Out of 18 transects, seven had at least one *Montastrea cavernosa*. From taking the average of Shannon's Diversity Index Values of the transects that did and did not have *M*. *cavernosa*, I found that transects that had *M*. *cavernosa* tend to have lower Shannon's Diversity Index Values than transects where *M*. *cavernosa* was absent however these values are not statistically different from each other (n = 18, t(16) = 1.307, p > 0.05; Figure 14).

5.3 Live Coral Cover & Topographic Complexity

There is mixed evidence of collinearity between measures of structural complexity and live coral cover. Evidence from multiple sites in the Caribbean suggest that even though coral cover and structural complexity have declined significantly in the past two decades, they have declined at different rates (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011b). The difference in declines in coral cover and complexity region-wide are likely a consequence of coral disease and bleaching which results in coral mortality but not immediate erosion to the reef framework (Aronson and Precht 2001; Sheppard et al. 2002). The weak relationship between rates of change in coral cover and architectural complexity suggests that complexity is not solely a function of coral cover; changes in other reef attributes have likely influenced the response of reef complexity to the loss of coral cover (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011b). Another study in the Caribbean by Alvarez-Filip et al. (2013) investigated the changes in coral-assemblage composition and structural complexity and found that as reefs became dominated by species with substantially reduced capacity to produce and maintain reef framework such as *Porites astreoides*, reef structural complexity continued to decline.

In addition to different rates of decline between coral cover and topographic complexity, changes in topographic complexity and coral cover impact the invertebrate community differently (Idjadi & Edmunds 2006). It is the timing between loss of coral cover and loss of topographic complexity that matters. For coral reefs with a low percentage of live coral cover (e.g. < 10%), the skeletons that are left behind after the coral tissue dies and the structural diversity they create are important in determining the diversity and structure of the invertebrate communities (Idjadi & Edmunds 2006). For example, *Acropora palmata* populations that were severely affected by white-band disease in the 1980s had coral cover decrease (Aronson & Precht 2001). The dead *A. palmata* colonies continued to support a rich invertebrate community while their

skeletons remained, but when this framework was later damaged by hurricanes, the invertebrate community severely declined (Aronson & Precht 2001).

When multiple studies in the Caribbean involving coral cover and topographic complexity were analyzed, there was no significant correlation between the two (Graham and Nash 2013). In contrast, there have been a small number of studies that have found a significant positive correlation between coral cover and structural complexity (McClanahan and Shafir 1990; Mangi and Roberts 2007). Alvarez-Filip et al. (2011a) found that reefs with greater coral cover had greater architectural complexity; but the variance in complexity also increased with coral cover. The variance in complexity at high levels of coral cover was due to dominance by a particular coral genus. For instance, Alvarez-Filip et al. (2011a) found that sites dominated by species from the genus *Montastraea* had greater architectural complexity for a given coral cover, followed by Agaricia and Porites. They also found that at sites with relatively low coral cover (<20 %), complexity varied little which may be due to the dominant species not being abundant enough to contribute significantly to the reef framework or that there was not that much coral following erosion. Assuming that this also applies elsewhere in the Caribbean, their findings may help to explain the shift toward flat reefs reported in recent decades (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009, Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). Consequently, the findings of Alvarez-Filip et al. (2011a) suggest that assemblages with species such as Montastraea *spp.* would be expected to facilitate more biodiverse and functionally important coral reefs in the Caribbean. Montastraea historically ranked high in importance along with Acropora palmata and A. cervicornis in overall contribution to Western Atlantic reef structure (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). Therefore, coral cover is an important attribute that may be related to topographic complexity, but the coral cover of certain species may hold more significance than overall coral cover.

There has been an increase in relative abundance of *Porites astreoides* on Caribbean reefs; *Porites astreoides* forms rapidly growing, small colonies that are short lived and quickly replaced (Green et al. 2008). The increase in this less-complex species is important in regards to coral cover and architectural complexity since the increase is mediated by an overall decline in coral cover of other scleractinians (Green et al. 2008). Although percentages of live coral cover were not recorded in South Caicos, there is some evidence that *Porites* is common since it was found in the majority of this study's transects. *P. astreoides* may become a dominant coral on all Caribbean reefs in shallow waters in the future.

Studies in other parts of the world. In other parts of the world, studies have found that low coral cover and low topographic complexity do not significantly impact reef communities. Results from Coker et al.'s (2012) study on Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef, suggest that declines in coral cover and structural complexity will not necessarily lead to declines in overall fish abundance and species diversity. In addition, fishes will recruit and settle to degraded reefs in high numbers and high diversity following coral degradation, but those fish communities will be significantly different in size and type compared to healthy complex reefs (Coker et al. 2012). The loss of architectural complexity following declines in coral cover in the Caribbean differs from the pattern reported in the Indo-Pacific region, where a lagged response in the aftermath of widespread coral mortality following mass bleaching events was apparent (Graham et al. 2008). Reduction in the structural complexity of the reef matrix due to biological and physical erosion of dead coral skeletons is associated with the decline in coral cover created by bleaching (Sheppard et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2006). Evidence has been found that supports this claim in Chagos Archipelago, Indian Ocean (Sheppard et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2008), as well as Seychelles, Kenya, Maldives, and Tanzania (Graham et al. 2008).

CHAPTER 6

DISCUSSION

6.1 Coral Species Diversity and Topographic Complexity

The aim of this study was to assess the influence of coral species diversity and most abundant coral growth form on topographic complexity using analyses of rugosity and fractal dimension. In addition, I sought to assess the relationship between coral cover and topographic complexity from a literature review of related research. Supported hypotheses include linear rugosity increased as coral species diversity increased and fractal dimension increased as coral species diversity increased (for all except the lowest resolution $D_{0.01}$). In addition, the rate at which fractal dimension increased differed between resolutions.

There was a positive relationship between both measures of topographic complexity (fractal dimensions larger than 0.01 resolution and linear rugosity) and coral species diversity. High coral diversity provides a wider variety of habitats and shelters (higher complexity) for invertebrates compared to low coral diversity, based simply on the morphological diversity of coral species. These findings are in accordance with Alvarez-Filip et al.'s (2011a) study which found topographic complexity to be positively associated with number of coral species. That study showed that sites with fewer than five coral species tended to be relatively flat, while more diverse sites had the greatest topographic complexity. Alvarez-Filip et al. (2009) states that as of 1990, the flattest

reefs (rugosity less than 1.5) comprise approximately 75% of the Caribbean region which, when compared to the highest rugosity value of 1.96±0.30 at my study site, shows that the reefs in my study are all relatively flat. An interesting notion is topographic complexity's effect on coral diversity. The direction of the topographic complexity-biodiversity relationship can be described using the phrase "reciprocal causation" because the organisms that create complexity often require complexity to settle as larvae (Torres-Pulliza et al. in-prep). A study that used topographic complexity as a measure of disturbance found that coral species diversity was highest at an intermediate topographic complexity index that I used but utilized linear point-intercept which is another way of measuring complexity. This also is in accordance with the fact that reefs in the Caribbean have become flat, less rugose and more structurally uniform following regional declines in live coral cover (Gardener et al. 2003; Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009).

6.2 Most Abundant Coral Growth Form And Topographic Complexity

In regards to dominating coral growth forms (based on the highest relative abundance), this study found no statistically significant relationships between any dominant coral growth form and rugosity. This may be due to the small number of different dominant coral growth forms. This study only had three different dominant coral growth forms which were comprised of two distinct growth forms and one mix of the two. Some studies in the literature however had a wider of range of up to five different growth forms (Richardson et al. 2017). The lack of significant differences in my study could also possibly be attributed to the 3D modelling software not including plumeshaped species when measuring linear rugosity. Since the analysis runs horizontal and vertical mesh lines over the reef, if plume-shaped individuals weren't exactly under those mesh lines, they may not have been evaluated. From an above perspective, the area that plume individuals take up is relatively small, thus, they are less likely to be measured in the rugosity index.

I found highest fractal dimension values at largest resolutions on plume/plate dominated reefs followed by plume and lowest for plate-dominated (fractal dimension values for plume/plate-dominated reefs were highest at the largest resolution, followed by plate and plume). I found no statistical difference between fractal dimension values at small resolutions on plate-dominated reefs, plume-dominated reefs and plate/plume dominated reefs. This finding goes against my original hypothesis that the values would be highest for plate-dominated reefs than plume and plate/plume dominated reefs. Topographic variability of the surface at scales that matched our smallest fractal dimension resolutions may be similar for both plume and plate shaped individuals due to their relative shape. Plume and plate shaped species are oriented differently but have similar structures which may explain the lack of significant difference between the coral dominance growth forms measured at the smallest scales. In other words, plume and plate growth forms are structurally similar in that plumes are flat and vertical while plate are flat and horizontal. Or, this may be explained due to reduced accuracy at smaller scales. Small differences are more difficult to obtain for multiple reasons including particulate matter in the water interfering with image resolution (Young et al. 2017). This reduced

accuracy at smaller scales can also be applied to this study's lack of statistically significant relationship between coral species diversity and fractal dimension at the smallest scale (D_{1,2-0,01}).

Another finding was that fractal dimensions at the largest resolutions (D_{0.6} and D_{0.3}) on plume/plate was highest, followed by plate and plume. This does not match the hypothesis of fractal dimensions at large resolutions being highest for plume dominated reefs and lower for plate and plate/plume dominated reefs. The reasoning behind the hypothesis is that the presence of *Pseudopterogorgia* spp. individuals would lead to higher D values since soft coral habitats can have greater topographic complexity at large scales (Richardson et al. 2017). A logical explanation for the results contradicting this would be that not all plumes counted during field surveys were measured in the model. Movement of plumes because of currents during filming may have caused them to not be included in the model or any analyses. Also higher topographic complexity in plume/plate reefs may be due to having two growth forms both relatively abundant in an area.

6.3 Live Coral Cover and Topographic Complexity

The literature on live coral cover and topographic complexity in the Caribbean presents mixed results. The coral cover of certain species such as *Montastraea* spp. may hold more significance than overall coral cover in determining reef's topographic complexity (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2011a). When comparing transects where *Montastraea cavernosa* was present versus absent to test Alvarez-Filip et al.'s claim, I found that

transects where *M. cavernosa* was absent actually had higher Shannon's diversity index values on average. Although this may not be indicative of low structural complexity due to presence of *M. cavernosa*. This may be due to small sample size overall; most transects where *M. cavernosa* was present had a single individual.

In comparison to the other reef attributes from my study's evaluation, coral cover had the weakest relationship with topographic complexity according to past research in the Caribbean. My field results provide evidence that topographic complexity is influenced by coral species diversity and in part, by dominant coral growth form. As coral species diversity increases, rugosity and fractal dimension increases (except for the smallest scale). Furthermore, plate/plume dominated reefs had higher fractal dimension values (at large scales) than plume-dominated reefs.

6.4 Notable Observations

I found a relatively large number of *Agaricia* spp. (212 individuals) and a small number of *Acropora* spp. (1; Table 1). This is important to note since *Acropora* used to be the dominant coral species in the Caribbean. A justification could be the two major hurricanes that struck the Turks and Caicos Islands in 2017. Studies found that brooding Agaricids and *Porites* had successful recruitment after hurricanes while *Acropora* was not successful (Hughes 1994; Green and Edmunds 2011), which would explain the low abundance of *Acropora* and high abundance of *Agaricia*. In addition, disease could be a factor playing into low branching coral growth forms. Aronson and Precht (2001) found that in the Caribbean, if *Acropora* spp. do not recover, macroalgae will dominate reefs,

accompanied by increased abundances of brooding corals, particularly *Agaricia* spp. and *Porites* spp. Also in the Caribbean, there has been a loss of reef-building coral species such as *Acropora* spp. and *Montastraea* spp. with an increase in the stress-tolerant corals, like *Agaricia* spp., which are often less topographically complex (Aronson et al. 2002; Green et al. 2008). This helps explain the high abundance and dominance of *Agaricia* spp. and low abundance of *Montastraea* spp. and very low abundance of *Acropora* spp. at my study site.

There were limitations within this study which can be eliminated with several modifications in the future. Although this study did take less rigid biota like soft corals into account for topographic complexity, the effect of sponges and other threedimensional benthic species were not evaluated, which have been measured within rugosity and fractal dimensions. Integrating structural complexity of sponges would be beneficial since there has been very little research on that in the Caribbean. Sponges with structural complexity also offer refuge to species just as corals do. Future studies are needed to determine the impact substantial changes in sponge species diversity has on topographic complexity. Having more studies dedicated to understanding the structural components underlying this complexity, such as the influence of sponge diversity, would be beneficial. Further studies in different reef habitats and different sites are necessary to complete the picture of the relationship between different reef attributes and reef architectural complexity. The density and diversity of corals and reefs are likely to decline globally, leading to vastly reduced topographic complexity and loss of biodiversity (Loya et al. 2001; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007); thus, it is important to

continue research on effects of coral species diversity, dominant growth form, and coral cover on topographic complexity.

CHAPTER 7

STRATEGIC CONSERVATION AND RESTORATION METHODS

Within the last two decades, non-profit organizations, scientists, and researchers at coastal universities around the globe have been developing methods for protection, conservation, and reconstruction of coral reefs to promote growth and resilience against changes to the oceanic environment. There is a delay in our attempts to mitigate CO₂ emissions which is a huge issue. However we, reef managers and coastal resource policies must address immediate local stressors such as declining water quality, coastal pollution, and overexploitation of key functional groups such as herbivores (Hughes et al. 2002; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Currently, restoration and conservation strategies for Caribbean coral reefs are of utmost importance. Time, effort, and costs are sometimes high in restoration efforts so ensuring strategies are effective is crucial.

7.1 Applications From This Study

In my study, I found that coral species diversity was strongly correlated with topographic complexity. This may suggest that high coral species diversity leads to high topographic complexity and the other way around (reciprocal causation; Torres-Pulliza et al. in-prep), thus strategies should ensure reefs have both high coral species diversity and high topographic complexity. While maximizing the amount of coral present (i.e. high live coral cover), for long term reef condition, topographically complex reefs (with complex growth forms) with high diversity is vital. Since topographically complex reefs are considered more healthy (due to the fact that complex reefs support fish and invertebrate

richness, abundance and biomass), coral reef conservation efforts should focus on protecting already complex reefs and promoting richness of coral species, and coral reef restoration efforts should focus on ensuring coral reefs have structurally complex species, especially *Acropora* and *Montastraea*. Another key strategy for restoration efforts is to strengthen reef resilience.

7.2 Reef Resilience And Outplanting

Resilience is the ability of reef communities to regenerate after stress and damage through growth and reproduction of surviving corals and through larval recruitment. By promoting regeneration, coral reefs may reach a state (or close to a state) that the reef was in prior to the stress (West and Salm 2003). Reef communities consisting of diverse adult corals with high fertilization success and high larvae survivability before and after recruitment may benefit its resilience and increase the chance of recovery of adjacent or down-current coral communities, thus, restoration and outplanting efforts of species with high fertilization success and high larvae survivability are spreading (West and Salm 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Outplanting and other new techniques for the mass culture of corals from fragments may assist local restoration or the culture of resistant varieties of these key species (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Specifically for Acropora populations in the Caribbean, low-cost methods such as coral gardening and fragment stabilization were ranked as the most effective activities for reef restoration (Young et al. 2012). Coral gardening consists of removing a small amount of tissue and skeleton from healthy wild coral populations and propagating a stock within *in situ* or *ex situ* coral

nurseries (Rinkevich 2005; Young et al. 2012). Once those nursery-grown colonies produce a sustainable amount of corals, those corals can then be transplanted to reefs in need (Rinkevich 2005). Both acroporid species (*A. palmata* and *A. cervicornis*) have particularly high growth rates relative to other corals, therefore, direct planting of coral fragments are logical for restoration (Goreau and Goreau 1959).

7.3 Marine Protected Areas (MPAs)

The major coral reef management measure practiced by NGOs, conservationists, scientists, managers and decision making authorities has been marine protected areas (MPAs; Sale 2008; Rinkevich 2008). MPAs restrict human activity for a conservation purpose in a particular area, typically to protect natural marine resources. Presence of sufficient grazing fish populations may also increase recovery since herbivorous fish consume the macroalgae that may otherwise have out-competed coral recruits for space on the reef (West and Salm 2003; Norström et al. 2009). This can easily be implemented by establishing a MPA over a desired reef. Near this study's dive site was the East Harbor Conch and Lobster Reserve which, with more restrictions in place for the future, may assist in the recovery of the coral reefs by promoting the presence of grazing fish. However, the effectiveness of MPAs has been debated. In the Caribbean, some weaknesses of MPAs are the lack of adequate administration and the failure of the MPA program to evolve with the changes in government and community involvement (Cho 2005). Overall, the main conditions in regards to MPAs are that the restrictions in place at the time of implementation should be constantly revised to current management

protocols, rationales and to include active reef restoration as the main part of routine management (Rinkevich 2008).

7.4 Artificial Reefs

Artificial reefs have been used as a tool for reef conservation and rehabilitation for a few decades and have been presented in media worldwide (Clark and Edwards 1999; Perkol-Finkel et al. 2006). Besides increasing the amount of substrate available for benthic organisms such as coral, artificial reefs serve other purposes including increasing the convenience and efficiency of harvesting reef-associated species (Carr and Hixon 1997). The effectiveness of artificial reefs has also been debated and studied. A study found that artificial reefs will mimic its adjacent natural reefs communities only if the artificial reef has structural features similar to those of the natural surroundings; seen in Figure 15 (Perkol-Finkel et al. 2006).



Figure 15. Artificial reef structure placed on reef flat with Acropora cervicornis and

other species growing on top (photography by Gareth Stingler).

When establishing artificial reefs, coral recruitment is usually higher on inclined surfaces as compared to horizontal because there are increased water circulation and lower sedimentation levels (Clark and Edwards 1999). The structural complexity of artificial reefs play a very important role in the coral community structure in the Caribbean (Carr and Hixon 1997). In fact, structural complexity is more important than age in determining how close the community structure is to a natural reef (Perkol-Finkel et al. 2006). High structural complexity of artificial reefs in the Caribbean drive high fish abundance as well, which reiterates the importance of having structural complexity in reefs, natural or artificially (Hixon and Beets 1989).

As more studies are done, scientists are expanding knowledge about the stressors of reefs, which will assist in saving the world's reefs by influencing conservation and restoration strategies. In saving the world's reefs, not only are some of the marine organisms depending on the reef being saved, but also humans who depend on the protection and food supply from reefs.

CHAPTER 8

CONCLUSION

The architectural complexity of reefs can greatly influence their ability to support biodiversity and provide ecosystem services which may be impacted by different reef attributes. This study integrated methods that were used often in previous topographic complexity studies but also newer methods and techniques whose results can be used as a baseline for future studies. In regards to coral species diversity, this study found that both measures of topographic complexity (rugosity and fractal dimension) increased as coral species diversity increased. While coral cover is an important reef attribute in some cases, the corals' identity plays a bigger role than the amount of cover considering topographic complexity in the Caribbean. My study showed a significant relationship between fractal dimensions at larger resolutions and most abundant coral growth form in which higher fractal dimensions occurred on plate/plume- dominated reefs than plumedominated reefs. This may be due to increased diversity in growth form given that there are two different morphologies dominating the area. Understanding the reef attributes relating to topographic complexity can help increase effectiveness in the development of strategies for marine ecosystem conservation including coral reef restoration efforts. Therefore I hope that this honors research can be applied to future studies and conservation efforts in the Caribbean and elsewhere moving forward.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I cannot thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Tammy Windfelder, enough for her constant support and guidance through not only my thesis writing process but also my time as an undergraduate at Drew. From taking her ecology courses and going on adventures from Belize to New York to Cape May, I learned how to be a scientist and what path to take to do research. Tammy believed in my skills to become a marine ecologist when I didn't and she pushed me to pursue my dreams. Tammy would always help me with my applications, letters of recommendation, and when I was just generally stressed about something stupid at 2 am. It is because of Tammy that I was able to complete my thesis and undergraduate studies with honors. I hope to become a professional researcher and teach future marine biology students just as Tammy taught me.

Thank you to Dr. Caroline Maier and Dr. Emanuele Occhipinti for not only reading and providing edits for my thesis, but for being the best mentors and professors. Dr. Occhipinti showed me how to be courageous and adventurous on the several excursions to Italy. He helped me connect my love of marine science and people. I want to always have community involvement in my research because of the experiences he pushed me to do in Italy. Dr. Maier's constant support and encouraging talks have helped me ever since my first year at Drew. Taking her freshwater ecology course was my first experience with aquatic sciences which lead me to pursue my passion.

Special thanks to Dr. Fran Elmer who was my PI while in Turks and Caicos. Fran taught me all the necessary field techniques and 3D modelling methods. I am also grateful to the people who helped collect the field data for this research in South Caicos,

Turks and Caicos. Thank you Abbey Dias, Ray Vega-Perkins, Nicholas Peoples, and Marc Todd, for major help with field data. This research would not have been possible without SCUBA support from Mariana Silva, Eva Lenain, Stephan Bruns, Julia Valentine, John Debuysser and logistical support from Clarence Stringer and Nick Segel. Lastly, thank you School for Field Studies, under the leadership of Heidi Hertler, for transforming marine biology into a tangible experience and lifelong memory.

Also thank you to my friends and family who have always been supportive of me and my spontaneous adventures in different countries. They always paid attention whenever I rant about the ocean and my love for pretty, colorful, and unmoving corals. Without their love and support, I would not have been able to have this special honors thesis research.

Literature Cited

- Albright R, Mason B, Miller M, Langdon C (2010) Ocean acidification compromises recruitment success of the threatened Caribbean coral Acropora palmata. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107(47):20400-4
- Alvarez-Filip L, Carricart-Ganivet JP, Horta-Puga G, Iglesias-Prieto R (2013) Shifts in coral-assemblage composition do not ensure persistence of reef functionality. Sci Rep 3:3486
- Alvarez-Filip L, Dulvy NK, Gill JA, Côté IM, Watkinson AR (2009) Flattening of
 Caribbean coral reefs: region-wide declines in architectural complexity. Philos
 Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 276:3019-3025
- Alvarez-Filip L, Dulvy NK, Côté IM, Watkinson AR, Gill JA (2011a) Coral identity underpins architectural complexity on Caribbean reefs. Ecol Appl 21:2223-31.
- Alvarez-Filip LO, Côté IM, Gill JA, Watkinson AR, Dulvy NK (2011b) Region-wide temporal and spatial variation in Caribbean reef architecture: is coral cover the whole story? Glob Chang Biol 17(7):2470-7
- Aronson RB, Macintyre IG, Precht WF, Murdoch TJT, Wapnick C M (2002) The expanding scale of species turnover events on coral reefs in Belize. Ecol Monogr 72:233-249
- Aronson RB, Precht WF (1995) Landscape patterns of reef coral diversity: a test of the intermediate disturbance hypothesis. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 192(1):1-4

- Aronson RB, Precht WF (2001) White-band disease and the changing face of Caribbean coral reefs. Hydrobio 460:25-38
- Bak RP, Carpay MJ, De Ruyter Van Steveninck ED (1984) Densities of the sea urchin Diadema antillarum before and after mass mortalities on the coral reefs on Curacao. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 17(1):105-8
- Bak RP, Nieuwland G, Meesters EH (2005) Coral reef crisis in deep and shallow reefs:
 30 years of constancy and change in reefs of Curacao and Bonaire. Coral reefs
 24(3):475-9
- Barnes, RD (1987) Invertebrate Zoology. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers 5: 92-96, 127-134, 149-162
- Baums IB, Devlin-Durante MK, LaJeunesse TC (2014) New insights into the dynamics between reef corals and their associated dinoflagellate endosymbionts from population genetic studies. Mol ecol 23(17):4203-4215
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP (2001) Regional-scale assembly rules and biodiversity of coral reefs. Science 292(5521):1532-5
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M (2004) Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature 429(6994):827

Brown BE (1997) Coral bleaching: causes and consequences. Coral reefs 16(1):S129-138

Brown BE, Ogden JC (1993) Coral bleaching. Scientific American 268(1):64-70

Bruno JF, Selig ER, Casey KS, Page CA, Willis BL, Harvell CD, Sweatman H, Melendy AM (2007) Thermal stress and coral cover as drivers of coral disease outbreaks. PLoS biology 5(6):e124

- Bryant D, Burke L, McManus J, Spalding M (1998) Reefs at risk: a map-based indicator of threats to the worlds coral reefs. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC
- Bryson M, Ferrari R, Figueira W, Pizarro O, Madin J, Williams S, Byrne M (2017)
 Characterization of measurement errors using structure-from-motion and
 photogrammetry to measure marine habitat structural complexity. Ecol Evol
 7:5669-5681
- Cantin NE, Cohen AL, Karnauskas KB, Tarrant AM, McCorkle DC (2010) Ocean warming slows coral growth in the central Red Sea. Science 329(5989):322-325
- Carr MH, Hixon MA (1997) Artificial reefs: the importance of comparisons with natural reefs. Fisheries 22(4):28-33
- Cho L (2005) Marine protected areas: a tool for integrated coastal management in Belize. Ocean Coast Manag 48(11-12):932-47.
- Clark S, Edwards AJ (1999) An evaluation of artificial reef structures as tools for marine habitat rehabilitation in the Maldives. Aq Conserv Mar Fresh Ecosys 9:5–21
- Coker DJ, Graham NA, Pratchett MS (2012) Interactive effects of live coral and structural complexity on the recruitment of reef fishes. Coral Reefs 31(4):919-927 doi: 10.1073/pnas.091092998
- Colombo-Pallotta MF, Rodríguez-Román A, Iglesias-Prieto R (2010) Calcification in bleached and unbleached *Montastraea faveolata*: evaluating the role of oxygen and glycerol. Coral Reefs 29(4):899-907
- Ellison AM, Bank MS, Clinton BD, Colburn EA, Elliott K, Ford CR, Foster DR, Kloeppel BD, Knoepp JD, Lovett GM, Mohan J (2005) Loss of foundation

species: consequences for the structure and dynamics of forested ecosystems. Front Ecol Environ 3:479-486

- Fabricius KE, Langdon C, Uthicke S, Humphrey C, Noonan S, De'ath G, Okazaki R, Muehllehner N, Glas MS, Lough JM (2011) Losers and winners in coral reefs acclimatized to elevated carbon dioxide concentrations. Nature Reports Climate Change 1:165-169
- Gardener TA, Cote I, Gill JA, Grant A, Watkinson AR (2003) Long-term region-wide declines in Caribbean corals. Science 301: 958–960
- Gattuso JP, Brewer PG, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Kleypas JA, Portner HO, Schmidt DN (2014) Cross-chapter box on ocean acidification. In Climate Change 2014:
 Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects.
 Contribution to Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 129–131
- Gattuso JP, Frankignoulle M, Bourge I, Romaine S, Buddemeier RW (1998) Effect of calcium carbonate saturation of seawater on coral calcification. Glob Planet Change 18: 37-46
- Gini Kennedy/NOAA (2011) Coral Anatomy and Structure. NOAA Coral Reef Conservation Program

https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/education/kits/corals/coral01_intro.html

Gledhill DK, Wanninkhof R, Millero FJ, Eakin M (2008) Ocean acidification of the greater Caribbean region 1996–2006. J Geophys Res Oceans 113(C10)

- Goreau TF, Goreau NI (1959) The physiology of skeleton formation in corals II calcium deposition by hermatypic corals under various conditions in the reef. Biol Bull 117:239–250 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1538903</u>
- Goreau TF, Goreau NI (1973) The ecology of Jamaican coral reefs II: Geomorphology, zonation, and sedimentary phases. Bull Mar Sci 23(2):399-464
- Goreau TJ, Hayes RL, Clark JW, Basla DJ, Robertson CN (1993) Elevated sea surface temperatures correlate with Caribbean coral reef bleaching. In R. A. Geyer (ed). A global warming forum: scientific, economic and legal overview. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, pp 225–255
- Graham NAJ, Nash KL (2013) The importance of structural complexity in coral reef ecosystems. Coral Reefs 32:315-326
- Graham NA, Jennings S, MacNeil MA, Mouillot D, Wilson SK (2015) Predicting climate-driven regime shifts versus rebound potential in coral reefs. Nature 518(7537):94
- Graham NA, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Wilson SK, Polunin NV, Jennings S,
 Chabanet P, Clark S, Spalding MD, Letourneur Y, Bigot L, Galzin R, Ohman
 MC, Garpe KC, Edwards AJ, Sheppard CR (2008) Climate warming, marine
 protected areas and the ocean-scale integrity of coral reef ecosystems. PLoS ONE
 3(8):e3039
- Graham NA, Wilson SK, Pratchett MS, Polunin NV, Spalding MD (2009) Coral mortality versus structural collapse as drivers of corallivorous butterflyfish decline. Biodivers Conserv 18(12):3325-3336

- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, Robinson J (2006)
 Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 203:8425–8429
- Green DH, Edmunds PJ (2011) Spatio-temporal variability of coral recruitment on shallow reefs in St. John, US Virgin Islands. Journal of Exper Mar Biol and Ecol 397(2):220-229
- Green DH, Edmunds PJ, Carpenter RC (2008) Increasing relative abundance of *Porites astreoides* on Caribbean reefs mediated by an overall decline in coral cover. Mar Ecol Prog Series 359:1-10
- Harvell CD, Mitchell CE, Ward JR, Altizer S, Dobson AP, Ostfeld RS, Samuel MD
 (2002) Climate warming and disease risks for terrestrial and marine biota. Science
 296: 2158–2162
- Hayes RL, Goreau NI (1998) The significance of emerging diseases in the tropical coral reef ecosystem. Rev Biol Trop 46(5):173-85
- Hixon MA, Menge BA (1991) Species diversity: prey refuges modify the interactive effects of predation and competition. Theor Popul Biol 39: 178-200. doi:10.1016/0040-5809(91)90035-E.
- Hixon MA, Beets JP (1989) Shelter characteristics and Caribbean fish assemblages: experiments with artificial reefs. Bull Mar Sci Mar 44(2):666-80
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (1999) Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Mar Freshwater Res 50:839–866

- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell
 CD, Sale PF, Edwards AJ, Caldeira K, Knowlton N (2007) Coral reefs under
 rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 1737-42
- Hooper DU, Chapin FS, Ewel JJ, Hector A, Inchausti P, Lavorel S, Lawton JH, LodgeDM, Loreau M, Naeem S, Schmid B (2005) Effects of biodiversity on ecosystemfunctioning: a consensus of current knowledge. Ecol Monogr 75(1):3-5
- Hughes TP (1994) Catastrophes, phase shifts, and large-scale degradation of a Caribbean coral reef. Science 265(5178):1547-1551
- Hughes TP, Bellwood DR, Connolly SR (2002) Biodiversity hotspots, centres of endemicity, and the conservation of coral reefs. Ecol Lett 5:775–784
- Idjadi JA, Edmunds PJ (2006) Scleractinian corals as facilitators for other invertebrates on a Caribbean reef. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 319:117-27
- Johnson MP, Frost NJ, Mosley MWJ, Roberts MF, Hawkins SJ (2003) The areaindependent effects of habitat complexity on biodiversity vary between regions. Ecol Lett 6:126–132
- Kavousi J, Reimer JD, Tanaka Y, Nakamura T (2015) Colony-specific investigations reveal highly variable responses among individual corals to ocean acidification and warming. Mar Environ Res 109: 9-20

Kleypas JA, Langdon C (2006) Coral reefs and changing seawater carbonate chemistry. Coastal and Estuarine Studies: Coral Reefs and Climate Change Science and Management 61:73-110

- Kleypas JA, Buddemeier RW, Archer D, Gattuso JP, Langdon C, Opdyke BN (1999) Geochemical consequences of increased atmospheric carbon dioxide on coral reefs. Science 284(5411):118-120
- Kline DI, Vollmer SV (2011) White Band Disease (type I) of endangered Caribbean acroporid corals is caused by pathogenic bacteria. Scientific reports 1:7 https://doi.org/10.1038/srep00007

Knowlton N (2001) The future of coral reefs. PNAS 98(10) 5419-5425

- Knudby A, LeDrew E (2007) Measuring Structural Complexity on Coral Reefs. In: American Academy of Underwater Sciences, 26th Symposium 181–188
- Komyakova V, Munday PL, Jones GP (2013) Relative importance of coral cover, habitat complexity and diversity in determining the structure of reef fish communities.
 PLoS ONE 8:e83178 <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083178</u>
- Kroeker KJ, Kordas RL, Crim RN, Singh GG (2010) Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. Ecol Lett 13(11):1419-1434 DOI:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01518.x
- Langdon C, Albright R, Baker AC, Jones P (2018) Two threatened Caribbean coral species have contrasting responses to combined temperature and acidification stress. Limnol Oceanogr 63(6):2450-2464
- Lesser MP (2011) Coral bleaching: Causes and mechanisms. In: Dubkinsky Z. Stambler N (editor) Coral Reefs: an ecosystem in transition. Springer: Dordrecht 405-419
- Lessios HA, Robertson DR, Cubit JD (1984) Spread of *Diadema* mass mortality through the Caribbean. Science 226(4672):335-337

- Loreau M, Naeem S, Inchausti P, Bengtsson J, Grime JP, Hector A, Hooper DU, Huston MA, Raffaelli D, Schmid B, Tilman D (2001) Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. Science 294(5543):804-808
- Loya Y, Sakai K, Yamazato K, Nakano Y, Sambali H, van Woesik R (2001) Coral bleaching: the winners and the losers. Ecol Lett 4(2):122-31

Mandelbrot BB (1982) The fractal geometry of nature. New York: WH Freeman

- Mangi S, Roberts C (2007). Factors influencing fish catch levels on Kenya's coral reefs. Fisheries Management and Ecology 14: 245 - 253
- Mark DM (1984) Fractal dimension of a coral reef at ecological scales: a discussion. Mar ecol Prog series 14:293-294
- Martin-Garin B, Lathuilière B, Verrecchia EP, Geister J (2007) Use of fractal dimensions to quantify coral shape. Coral Reefs 26(3):541-50
- McClanahan TR, Shafir S (1990) Causes and consequences of sea urchin abundance and diversity in Kenyan coral reef lagoons. Oecologia 83:362-370
- McWilliams JP, Côté IM, Gill JA, Sutherland WJ, Watkinson AR (2005) Accelerating impacts of temperature-induced coral bleaching in the Caribbean. Ecology 86 (8):2055-2060
- Messmer V, Jones GP, Munday PL, Holbrook SJ, Schmitt RJ, Brooks AJ (2011) Habitat biodiversity as a determinant of fish community structure on coral reefs. Ecology 92:2285-2298

- Moberg F, Folke C (1999) Ecological goods and services of coral reef ecosystems. Ecol Econ 29(2): 215-233
- Norström AV, Nyström M, Lokrantz J, Folke C (2009) Alternative states on coral reefs: beyond coral–macroalgal phase shifts. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 376: 295-306
- Oakley CA, Davy SK (2018) Cell biology of coral bleaching. In: van Oppen M, Lough JM (eds) Coral Bleaching Patterns, Processes, Causes and Consequences 2018. Springer 189-211 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-75393-5
- Orr JC, Fabry VJ, Aumont O, Bopp L, Doney SC, Feely RA, Gnanadesikan A, Gruber N, Ishida A, Joos F, Key RM (2005) Anthropogenic ocean acidification over the twenty-first century and its impact on calcifying organisms. Nature 437(7059):681-686
- Palmer M, Bernhardt E, Chornesky E, Collins S, Dobson A, Duke C, Gold B, Jacobson R, Kingsland S, Kranz R, Mappin M (2004) Ecology for a crowded planet.Science 304: 1251-1252
- Perkol-Finkel S, Shashar N, Benayahu Y (2006) Can artificial reefs mimic natural reef communities? the roles of structural features and age. Mar Env Res 61(2):121-35
- Randall CJ, Szmant AM (2009) Elevated temperature reduces survivorship and settlement of the larvae of the Caribbean scleractinian coral, *Favia fragum* (Esper). Coral Reefs 28(2):537-545
- Richardson LE, Graham NA, Hoey AS (2017) Cross-scale habitat structure driven by coral species composition on tropical reefs. Scientific Reports 7(1):7557
- Riebesell U, Zondervan I, Rost B, Tortell PD, Zeebe RE, Morel FM (2000) Reduced calcification of marine plankton in response to increased atmospheric CO₂. Nature 407(6802):364-367
- Rinkevich B (2005) Conservation of coral reefs through active restoration measures: recent approaches and last decade progress. Envi Sci Tech 39:4333–4342 http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/
- Rinkevich B (2008) Management of coral reefs: we have gone wrong when neglecting active reef restoration. Marine Poll Bull 56(11):1821-4
- Rogers C, Miller J, Muller E, Edmunds PJ, Nemeth RS, Beets J, Friedlander AM, Smith T, Boulon R, Jeffery C, Menza C, Caldow C, Idrisi N, Kojis B, Monaco ME, Spitzack T, Gladfelter E, Ogden J, Hillis-Starr Z, Lundgren I, Bane Schill W, Kuffner IB, Richardson L, Devine B, Voss JD (2008) Coral Reefs of the US Virgin Islands. In: Dodge R, Reigl B (eds) Coral reefs of the world. Coral reefs of the United States. Springer, New York, pp 803
- Rohwer F, Seguritan V, Azam F, Knowlton N (2002) Diversity and distribution of coralassociated bacteria. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 243: 1–10
- Sale PF (2008) Management of coral reefs: where we have gone wrong and what we can do about it. Mar Poll Bull 56: 805–809
- Sheppard CR, Spalding M, Bradshaw C, Wilson S (2002) Erosion vs. recovery of coral reefs after 1998 El Niño: Chagos reefs, Indian Ocean. Ambio 31(1):40-8

- Sheppard CR, Dixon DJ, Gourlay M, Sheppard A, Payet R (2005) Coral mortality increases wave energy reaching shores protected by reef flats: examples from the Seychelles. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 64(2-3):223-34
- Spalding M, Spalding MD, Ravilious C, Green EP (2001) World atlas of coral reefs. Univ of California Press
- Spalding MD, Brown BE (2015) Warm-water coral reefs and climate change. Science 350: 769-771
- Sumich, JL (1996) An introduction to the biology of marine life. Jones & Bartlett Learning 6: 255-269
- Suwa R, Nakamura M, Morita M, Shimada K, Iguchi A, Sakai K, Suzuki A (2010) Effects of acidified seawater on early life stages of scleractinian corals (Genus *Acropora*). Fish Sci 76(1):93-9
- Veron JEN (2000) Corals of the world. Australian Institute of Marine Science. Townsville, QLD, Australia
- Warner ME, Fitt WK, Schmidt GW (1996) The effect of elevated temperature on the photosynthetic efficiency of zooxanthellae *in hospite* from four different species of reef coral: a novel approach. Plant Cell Environ 19: 291–299
- Warner ME, Fitt WK, Schmidt GW (1999) Damage to photosystem II in symbiotic dinoflagellates: a determinant of coral bleaching. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 8007–8012
- West JM, Salm RV (2003) Resistance and resilience to coral bleaching: implications for coral reef conservation and management. Conserv Biol 17(4):956-67

- Wilson SK, Graham NA, Polunin NV (2007) Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs. Mar Biol 151(3):1069-76
- Witze A (2015) Corals worldwide hit by bleaching. Nature

doi:10.1038/nature.2015.18527

- Wolf-Gladrow DA, Riebesell UL, Burkhardt S, Bijma J (1999) Direct effects of CO2 concentration on growth and isotopic composition of marine plankton. Tellus B 51(2):461-76
- Worm B, Barbier EB, Beaumont N, Duffy JE, Folke C, Halpern BS, Jackson JB, Lotze HK, Micheli F, Palumbi SR, Sala E (2006) Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. Science 314(5800):787-790
- Young GC, Dey S, Rogers AD, Exton D (2017) Cost and time-effective method for multi-scale measures of rugosity, fractal dimension, and vector dispersion from coral reef 3D models. PloS ONE 13(7):e0201847 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175341
- Young CN, Schopmeyer SA, Lirman D (2012) A review of reef restoration and coral propagation using the threatened genus *Acropora* in the Caribbean and western Atlantic. Bull Mar Sci 88(4):1075–1098
- Zawada DG, Piniak GA, Hearn CJ (2010) Topographic complexity and roughness of a tropical benthic seascape. Geophys Res Lett 37:1-6
- Zeebe RE, Zachos JC, Caldeira K, Tyrrell T. 2008. Carbon emissions and acidification. Science 321: 51-52

Zhou HW, Xie H (2003) Direct estimation of the fractal dimensions of a fracture surface

of rock. Surf Rev and Lett 10:751–762